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REQUEST FOR LEAVE TO OBTAIN FURTHER APPELLATE REVIEW

Pursuant to Mass.R.App.P. 27.1, the Defendants-
Appellees, Merrimack Valley Corp. {(“MVC”), and its
principal, Leonard J, Thomas, Jr. (“Thbmas”),1 hefeby
request this Court to grant them leéve to ébtéin
further appellate review of their cross-appeal in this
actioﬂ.

As will be demonstrated below, a portion of this
casé concerns an undecided issue éffecting the publicA
interest, i.e., whether an employee’s compensation
plan, which provides for the payment of sales
éommissiéns via a weekly draw against earned
commissions, in lieu of a lump sum payment, violates
the Massachuseﬁt; Wage Act, G.L. c. 149, § 148, et
seq. (“Wage Act”).

Thevcase at bar concerns substantial issues
éixectly and ériticélly affecting the public interest
and justice, including whether an employee’s
coﬁpénsaﬁionAplan,_whichAprovidesvfor the voiuntary
and agreed ﬁaymenf of sales commissions via a weekly

draw, to enable workers to have weekly ingcome, against

! For the sake of simplicity, this Application may
reference only MVC unless otherwise the context
requires otherwise.




earned commissions, in lieu of é lﬁmp sum payment.at

the end of long periods of time before they are'“dde

and payable” commissions, violates the Wage Act.

Failing further éppellate review in this matter,

commission-based industries and companies in the

Commonwealth of Massachusetts‘(i.e. any sales

positians, securities, car déalérships, insurance,

etc.) willtsuffer severe financial and.éperational

] : » hardship, up to and including potentially‘bringing
company operations to a grinding halt and causing

- grave hardship for employees.

The Appeals Court erroneously declined to decide

this important issue, which was raised by the Trial

AJudge when she unexpectedly and mistakenly instructed

- the Jury (after promising not to do so during the jury
charge conference) that a weekly draw on commiésidn

compensation plan, as opposed to lump sum payments; is

illegal under the Wage Act. The jury instruction was
£rroneous, and'it'resulted in a tainted, unfair, and
unjust verdict in favor of the Plaintiff-Appellant,
Steven P. Smith (“Smith”) as to his Wage Act claims
against MVC and Thonas.

The weekly draw against lump sum commission plan

is exactly how commission-based industries and




companies in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (i.e.
any sales positions, securities, car dealerships,
insurance, etc.) operate, and, in fact, inure to the

letter and spirit the legislature had in mind when

‘enacting the Wage Act. Should commission-based

positions not offer such arrangements, employees could

be waiting months, even years, before the final “due

and payable” amounts would be arithmetically
calculated or processed. As such, without such
arrangements commission-based employees could do

without any income causing severe hardships,

particularly while waiting on commissions and/or when

there are downtimes .and no commiésions are‘being
proqessed.

It wqﬁld be grave error and a slippery slope to
allow the Triél Ccurt's‘jury instruction and personal
judgment to stand - not only for the érror itself, but

the longtime affect it will bring to companies and

- industries in this Commenwealth. Further appelléte

review is not only warranted, but essential for the
substantial interests of companies/industries and

workers in the Commonwealth.




PRIOR PROCEEDINGS .

On June 4, 2012, Smith filed a Complaint in tﬁe
Essex County Superior Court against MVC and Thomas.
Record Appendix, hereinafter “R.A. I” or “R.A. I1I”,
I18-25. &Smith was alleging that his former employef,
MVC, failed to pay him sales commissions, and that the
| f;iluxe'to pay constituted both a breach of contract
and a violation of the Wage Acf, On September 9,
2013, MVC and Thomas filed an Answer and Cougterclaim.
R.A. I, 7.

in their Answer and éountercléim, MVC and Smith
alieged that MVC had entered into:a written
“Agreement"'with.smith in November, ZOll,ltdbresolve a
dispute which had arisen over the amount of sales
. commissions owed to him. R.A. II, 141. The Agreemeﬁt
{RLA.‘II, 187] provided that Smith was scheduled ﬁo
earn $116,000 in commissions based on jobs booked
prior to September 1, 2011. ‘ParagraphAB of the
. Agreement stated that these commissions were subject
to adjustments 1if substan;ial additional'costé of over
$20,000.00 are incurred on any individual job.” Id.
The Agreement alSé stated that it “representled] a
full and final settlement of our [MVC’s] commission

obligations to you for the period under discussion.”




R.A. II, 187. 1In i’ts"Cou.nferclaim, MVC alleged that
it paid Smith $102,000, and that. due to thé,
aforementioned adjustments, it owed nothing to Smith;
who had, in~fa§t, been overpaid. R.A. II, 137, 141.

On June 10, 2016, MVC and. Thomas filed abmgtion
~for Partial Summéry‘Judgment as to the WageuAcf
violation [Count I}L R‘A; II, 143. The basis for thé
Motion ﬁas‘that Smith’s sole legal rémedy was ‘for a
breach of contract'undér the Agreement,‘aﬁd that he
had waived any Wage Act claim by virtue of the clause
in thelAgreement which stated that it‘“regresent[ed}ia
full énd final settlement of  cur [MVC’s] commission
leigations to you for the~period under discussion.”
R.A. II, 143, 151.

The Motion Judge (Welch, J.) denied the Partial
‘Summary Judgment Motion, because the “full and final
lsettlement” language in the Agreement did not
specifically’mention the Wage Acf, and therefore, .

Smith did not waive his Wage Act claim.?

28ee Crocker v. Townsend 0il Co., Inc., 464 Mass. 1, 14
(2012) (a settlement or contract termination agreement
by an employee that included a general release
purporting to release all claims will be enforceable
as to the statutorily provided rights and remedies
conferred by the Wage Act only if such an agreement is
stated in clear and unmistakable terms).




-0On Mar;h 3, 2017, Smith filed a “Motion in Limine
to Preclude the Admission Into Evidence or Make Any
Mention at‘Trial cf the Invalid Agreement of November
186, 2011 for any Purpose”. R.A. II, 200. MVC opposed.
Smith’s Motion. R.A. II, 211. 1In his Motion, Smith:
argued that the Agreement should be eXclﬁaed from the
evidence to be presented at trial, because the Motion
‘Judge “found” that the Agreement was “a ‘special
_ contract’ under the Wage Act and is therefore -
invalid”. R.A. II 200. On July 25, 2017, the Trial
Judge (Fahey, J.) allowed Smith’s Motion via a
notation in the record which cited the statute
invalidating “special contracts” in violation of the
Wage Act, G.L. c. 149, § 148. R.A. I, 13,3 The Trial
Judge did not, ﬁowever, cite any specifié reason for
finding thaf the~Settlement Agreement was a “special
contract” in ﬁhe notation. Thus, the Agreement was
never introduced or referred to at the eventual trial.

In.addition, the Trial Judge allowed Smith's

 “Motion in Limine to Dismiss Defendants’ Counterclaim”

3 The Wage Act provides that “[n]lo person shall by a
special contract with an employee or by any other
means exempt himself” from the obligation to pay
weekly wages to employees. G.L. c¢. 149, § 148

~ (emphasis added) .




{R.A. I, 4}, which Motion was based on Smith’s
argument that the Counterclaim should be dismissed
because the claim was premised upon the supposedly
.‘unlawful'égreement. R.A. II, 238. MVC had opposed.
the Motion. R.A. IT,- 254.

The jury trial iﬁ this action took place between
August 10, 2017 énd August 18, 2017. R.A. I, 14. The
Trial Judge (they, J.) instructed the Jury that MVC’'s
draw.on commission compenéation plan kpursuant to
‘which'Smith was continuously paid a $1,400 weékly draw
against earned commissions as opposed to a 1ump-sum_
payment) was a violation of the Wage Act. On August
18, 2017, the Jury returned its “Special Jury
Verdict." R.A. II, 289. The Jury found ﬁhat neither
MVC nor Thomas breached aﬁy‘employment contract with
Smith. ~R.A. II, 291.¢% The Jury did find, however,
that MVC and Thomas violated the Wage Act. R.A. II,
289. More specifically, the Jury awarded damages for .
saies commissioné definitely determined and due and
payable to Smith after January 15, 2012 in the amount

of $25,318.96. R.A. II, 280, The Jury also found MVC

4 The Trial Judge specifically instructed the Jury that
MVC’s Compensation Plan with Smith was the contract
that it should consider in connection with Smith's
breach of contract claim.




and Thomas were liable to Smith in the amount of
1 $26,864.45, for “meeting the saleé quota for man days
-so0ld (the '5% Net Profit Man-Day Bonus’) that were
definitely determined and due and payable to Smith on
lor befofe Janﬁary 15, 20127, 1d. 'Conversely, the:
Jury found that Smith incurred no damages for sales
commissions definitely determined and due and payable-
to Smith before January 15, 2012, or for aﬁy 5% Net
Profit Man-Day Bonus definitely determined and due and
payable to Smith after January 15, 2012, Id.

On August 22, 2017, the Trial Court entered a
Judgment in Smith’s févor with respect to his Wage Act
claim#. R;A; i, 25i; The $25,318.96 award was
‘trebled under the Wage ActﬁAfo $75,956.88 plus
prejudgment interest in the amount $12,819.77; and the
$26,864.45'award was trebled under the Wage Act to
$80,593,35 plus prejudgment intéxest in the amount of
$13,602.30. R.A. I 15, 251. After a hearing, the
Triél‘Judge awarded Smith attorneys’ fees in the

amount of $499,936.20, and costs in the amount of

> A successful plaintiff under the Wage Act “shall be
awarded treble damages, as liguidated damages, for any
lost wages and other benefits and shall also be
awarded the costs of the litigation and reasonable
attorneys’ fees.” G.L. ¢, 149, § 150.



$16,954.10. ‘R.A. II, 132, This sizeable award was . -
_encompassed in a final Judgment entered by the Trial
on December 5, 2017. R.A* I, 16.

. MVC and Thomas filed a Notice of Appeél~from this
final Judgment on December 18,}2017. RJA; 1, 16.
Smith filed a Cr@s§~Appéal?op December 22, 2017. - Id.

Iﬁ their Croés-Appeal; MVC argued, inter alia,
that the Trial Judge’s instructioﬁ regarding the
.‘illegality éf MVC’ s draw on’gommission compensation

Aplan was erroneous; and that the Trial Judge’s
instruction resulted‘iﬁ a tainted verdict in favor.of-
Smith as to his Wage Act claiﬁs.

fhe Appeals Court declined to decide whether the

Trial Judge’s jury instruction was ‘erroneous, because
“MVC has not made a plausible showing that the jury .
might have reached a different result if the
challenged instruction héd not been‘éiven.”

Memorandum and Order of the Appeals Court dated May -

24, 2019, hereinafter, “Memorandum and Order”, p. 6.

As will be explained below, this aspect of the Appeals

Court’'s decision was clearly mistaken,® and this issue

¢ MVC and Thomas filed a Motion for Reconsideration

with the Appeals Court on June 7, 2019, which was
denied on Jdune 11, 2019,
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. {as to which there is ﬁo case law in Massachusetts)

. should bé addressed by this Court. 1In particular, the
issue should be addressed because many employers with .
seasonal or lengthy sales. cycles use similar
compensation plans, and it is in the public interest
-for this Court to determine whetﬁer,the'TrialiJudge’s
ruling regarding its iilegality was correct.

- In addition, the Appeals Court upheld the Trial 
“Court’s ruling that the Settiement Agreement was
dhénforceéble since it constituted an invalid *special
_cgntxact? under the Wage Act. MVC and Smith submit
that Excluding the Settlement Agreement from the
.evidenée submitted ét trial was also a'mistake, and is

net justified under the Wage Act.

STAEEME&T OF EACTS>

Smith was employed by MVC from July, 2004 until
‘January 12, 2011, as a .salaried plus commiséions
salesman of commercial -heating, véntiiating and air
éonditioning jobs to be performed by MVC for various
c§mmer§ial customers. R.A. I, 138, 143—44, The tetms
of his employment were set forth in an Offer Letter
dated July 19, 2004, wﬁich was sent by Thomas, the
owner and Presi&ent of MVC. R.A; I, 121. smith was

to receive, inter alia, a base salary, a “sign on”

11




bonus, and a sales commissions in-accordance with the
Commission Plan attached to the letter. 1Id. The
Commission Plan provided as foliowsg “Commissions will
be paid on a weekly in the form of a draw on
commissions earned. CommissionS‘aré deémed eérnad

when the contract revenue is collected in full and thé

contract is closed out of the accounting system.”

R.A. I, 122 (emphasis added) .

Under Merrimack’s Commission Plan, thereﬁore,
employees like Smith were paid their commissions
solely via:the Qeekly draw, and amounts that may have
been owed to him once the contract was closed out of
MVC's system were credited against his weekly draw,
R.A. I, 122, 130, 138, 160-64. Originally, Smith’s
weekly draw was $400, but it was increased to $1,200
and eventually-#lb400'to reflecﬁ the.level of his
sales aciivity. Addendum to‘Appellees’ Brief,
hereinafter “Add.”, Add; &. 1In addition,lSmith'was
gntitled undér the Commission Plan to year-end bbnqses
foi meeting the sales quota for man-days_sold {the “5%

Net Profit Man Day Bonus”). R.A. I, 128.7

7Smith was never deprived of money needed to support
him family {(as the Trial Judge theorized) where he was
being paid a salary plus $1,400 per week. This would
be ‘especially true when he had not fully €arned a




Around October, 2011,'Smith claimed that he was

‘owed approximately $194,000 in commissions. R.A4. II,
145, MVC disagreed and é dispute arcse between the
parties as to what Smith Qas owed. - Id, The pértieS'

agreed to work together to resolve their differences,
and the resolution was embodied in a written Agreement
dated November 16, 2011, executed by both Smith and

Thomas.® R.A. II, 187.

In the Agreement, Smitﬁ and MVC agreed that “the
'total amount of commissions you [Smith] are scheduled
to earn is $116,QO0.00‘b§sed én the jobs booked prior
to Sept. 1, 2001”; that “[tlhese commissions are
subject‘té adjustments if subs£antial additional costs

of over $20,000.00 are incurred on any individual

-

particular commission under his compensation plan, and
.may have actually owed MVC money. In fact, Smith’s
balance went into the negative at one point because

. the company was paying Smith $1,400 weekly during a
21-month period during which the earning of
commissions was suspended by MVC due to the economic
collapse in 2008. Add. 14. In addition, Smith’'s"
initial ‘weekly draw was $400, but it was increased to
$1,200 and eventually $1,400 to reflect the level of
his sales activity. Add. 6. In other words, Smith
was always treated fairly by MVC and the draw on
commission compensation plan was not designed to harm
him.

® Smith has never denied executing the Agreement, but
he insisted in pretrial submissions that he executed
it under economic duress [R.A. II, 203, 264], an often

raised but rarely successful defense to an otherwise
valid contract. '
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job”; and tﬁat [tlhese comnissions shall be paid
weekly in the form qf a draw of $£1,400.00 against
earned commissions until paid in full.” R.A. II, 187.
Lastly, the Agreément provided that Smith wouid be
compensated pursuant a bew comﬁission plan with
respect to allvjobsAentéred in MVC’'s systenm after
éeptember 1, 2011. 1d. Tﬁe new plan did not include
the 5% Net Profit Man-Day Bonuses. R.A. II, 182.

On or about January 5, 2012, Smith received a
“Notice of Termination of Eﬁployment" from MVC. R.A.
II, 134, The letter, which was executed by Smith,
stated that “[ylou will be paid yéur commissions
booked prior to Sept. 1, 2011 in accordance.with the.

. agreement you signed dated November 16, 2011.” Id.
MVC continued to pay Smith his weekly'draw of $i,400,
and in the end, it paid Smith $102,000’pursuant to the
Agreement. MVC contended in its pleadings that as a
result of certain adjustments specified‘in the
Agreement, it»oweé nothing teo Smith, and he had, in
fact, been overpaid.

As a result of the Trial Judge’s ruling on
Smith’s Motion in Limine‘reéarding the~Agreemeht,
there was no mention of it at the trial; no mention of

the agreed upon amount for the commissions owed to

14




Smith; no mention of the circumstances which resulted

in its execution; and no mention of MVC’'s performance

. of the Agreement or lack thereof.

At the trial,'Smith’s expert witness, Frank E.
Rudewicz (“Rudeéwicz”), testified that during the
course 6f his employment at MVC (eight fiscal years);

.Smith earned sales commissioné (including 5% Net o
Profit Man-Day Bqnusés totaling $195;505.36) totaling ‘ % 

$1,093,122.73. Add. 8. He also testified that Smith

i - was actually paid $712,649.60 by MVC. Add. 10. Thus, E
| Rudewicz testified that it was his “opinion that Mr.
Smith is owed & minimum of 380,653 dollars and 13
cents.” Add. 11.
Thomas rebutted séveral‘aspects of Rudewicz's ~

testimony. He testified that 5% Net Profit Man-Day

Bonuses were not owed to Smith for the.yeérs'2009—2102
because MVC suspended these bonuses as of 2008, and
that $127,162.66 héd to subtracted from the amount
Rudewicz’s'calculationi Add. 13. Thomas also

testified that the earning of commissions was

suspended for a 21-month period between “September of

"08 through the end of our fiscal year, 5/31/2010.”

ot
o



Add, 14.% Thomas téstified that some of the
commissions which Smith claimed were owed to him were
not owed because they originated 4in this 21-month
suspension period. 'Id. The total amount of these
disputed commissions was $92,837.31. Add. 16.  Thomas
also testified that MVC had never agreed to compensatc
Smith for jObS that were left “open” at tho time of
~his termination, January 15, 2012. Add. 15,
Accordlng to Thomas, Smlth was seeking qpprOleately
8224, 575 45 in commissions for these open jobs that he
‘was not entitled to be compensated for. ‘Add, 17,10
These disputed amounts totaled $444,375.42, and
when that amount was subtracted from Rudewicz’ s
starting figure of $1,053;l22;73} the actual amount of
compehsation owed to Smith by MVC was $647,f47.21, not

$1,053,122.73. Add. 18. Smith was actually paid

® The suspension was a product of the terrible economic
downturn at that time. Despite the suspension, MVC
continued to pay Smith his weekly-commission draw of
$1,400, which caused him to go lnto 2 negative
balance. '

10 MVC!’s Commission Plan provided that upén_termination »
of employment, “variable compensation payments will be
debited or credited throughout the end of the month
preceding the ‘date of departure’ and no further
commissions shall be due [sic] payable to the
individual.” R.A. I, 125.

16




$712,649.60 by MVC,'meanf that Smith was not owed
anything and was. actually overpaid. ;g;

During a colloguy with Counsel a£ the trial, the
" Trial Judge revealed that she had concluded that the= 
draw on commission aspect of the MVC’s Commission Plan
wés unlawful under the Wage Act. Add.‘QS, Counsel
for MVC had attempted to explain to the Judge tha£'the
commissions did not becoﬁe “wages” until théy were
“due and payable”, which by agreement were due énd
payable as weekly draws of $1,400.00. Add. 24.1% The

Court responded as follows:

THE COURT: But by your calculations,
you‘re allowing the employer to retain
monies. owed to the employee after the amount
is arithmetically determined and due and
payable, apart from the commission language

MR. SCANDORE: I understand your
- position, Your Honor. ‘I have seen no case
law to say that the draw itself is illegal.

THE COURT: Well, what happens here is
the employee, who has got a family to
support and knows he is owed tens of
thousands of dollars, has to basically beg

'* The Wage Act, G.L. c©. 149, § 148 applies “so far as
apt, to the payment of commissions when the amount of
such commissions, less allowablé or authorized
deductions, has been definitely determined and has
become due and payable to such employee.”. See
Commonwealth v. Savage, 31 Mass.App.Ct. 714, 716
{1991). . :




:
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and have an argument with‘hisvemplQYer.
That is not how we work in Massachusetts.

Add. 25.
In addition to expléining that the commissions

were “due and payable” as weékly draws and did not

constitute “wages” under the Wage Act until then,

Counsel fér MVC’attempted to explain that the draw on
commission feature oﬁithe compensatién.plan benefitted
ah employee like Smith because theré were times when
“his commissions were in the negative,v{ahd} he
continued fo recelve his weekly draw.” In other
words, “whether the cémmission fluctuates, the

employee has a steady check he can count on”. Add. 25-

§

26.

After rejecting MVC’s position and stating»thatv
“I don’t think that’s what the SJC would accept” [Add.
27];'the Trial Judge took up the quéstion of what to

instruct the Jury on this issue. Counsel for MVC

pleaded with .the Trial Judge to not specifically

instruct the Jury that MVC's commission plan was a
violation of the Wage Act, because the practical

result would be an inevitable finding by the Jury that

18




MVC violated ihe.Wage Act. Add. 25.'? The Trial Judge
responded by insisting that she would only read the
- language of the Wage Act regérding when commissions
become ‘wages under the Act. Add. 28. The Trial Judge
stated that she would give an instruction that “[tlhe
Wage Act, if';t conflicts with this, is not in |
compliance, viblates the Wage Act”, to which Counsel
for Smith replied, “[ylou mean the commiséion plan,"
and the Trial Judge agreed; Add. Z28. 1In an effort to
further alleviate the concerns expressed by Counsel
“for MVC, the Trial Judge also stated: “I do not éant
ﬁo put my thumb on the scale, but again, what happened
here I think - I do think was really impropei o
Add. 28 (emphasis added). |

Despite pfomising nét to put a “thumb on the
"scéle", that ié preciéely what thé Trial Judge did
when'she éctually iﬁstiucte& the Jury. After
correctly éxplaining to‘theAJury how and when the Wage

Act applies to commissions (i.e., éhey are “definitely

12 The exact words used by Counsel for MVC were: “[I]f
you have an instruction that implies to them [the
jurors] that the commission plan is illegal, I think

we have lost the case right there.” Add. 28 (emphasis
added) . ' :

19




determinable” and “due and payable”), the Judge stated

the following with respect to MVC’'s commission plan: -

50, what does definitely determinable mean?
In this case, it means arithmetically
determinable when the job is closed and the
company has all the profit it needs to
determine the net profit of the job. The
Wage Act requires that once the employer has
all this information to determine the net
profit of the job, the employer is required
to determine the commission and pay the
employee within six days the commission he
has earned. So to the extent that the
commission plan, Exhibit 2, permits the
employer to continue paying the 1,400 dollar
draw after the commission is able to
arithmetically determinable, then the
commiission plan is unenforceable, because it
is in violation of the Wage Act. Onge, in
this case, the commission can be definitely
determinable, the math, the numbers are
available to the defendants to determine
definitely the commission, they have to
figure it out, determine the commission, and

- within six days pay it. That’s what the Wage
Act requires.

Add. 30 (emphases added). To this erroneous jury
instruction, the Trial Court added the foilcwing:

If you find that the defendant failed to pay
Mr. Smith for either or both the commission
he was legally entitled to once it was
definitely determinable and/or the five per
cent net profit for the man-day bonus,
either or both of those would constitute a
Wage Act violation. And them you would go
on to decide the issue of damages.

Trial Transcript, Bugust 16, 2017, pp. 245-46

{emphases added).

20




For his part, Counsel for Smith emphasized the
erroneous instruction by the Trial Judge in his

.closing argument to the Jury. In particular, Counsel

for Smith stated:

Her Honor will tell you that when a
commission plan, like the one you see here,
conflicts with .the statute, it’s the statute
that provides -- that prevails, not the
commission plan. That becomes very
important here. And.the commission plan
conflicts with the statute in a number of
ways., Number one, it doesn’t call for
payment of commissions when they’re owed,

Trial Transcript, August l6,v2019, p. 198 Kemphases
added) . | |
A££er the Jury‘was instruc;ed, and Counsel for
MVC objected toAthis instruction [“{ylou said that
paying;via é draw is illegal undér the statute ;f];
the Trial Judge’s response was “I don’t think I said
| illegal”. Counsel for MVC then stated: “You said it's
a viélation of the Wage Act* to which the Trial‘dudge
'résponded “Yes, it is” and *{t}bere were lots of
| others [jur§ instructions]. I oniy said it once”.

Add. 31.

ISSUES AS 70 WHICH FURTHER APPELLATE REVIEW IS SOUGHT

" MVC and Smith are seeking further appellate
review as to: (1) the Trial Judge’s jury instruction

regarding the illegality under of MVC’s draw on

21




comnission plan under the Wage Act; and'(Z) the Triél
Judge’s exclusion of the Agreément betweén MVC aﬁd

~ Smith dated November 16, 2011, as relevant evidence of
the amount oWed to Smith, based on her.ruliﬁg thai it
constituted a “special contract” under the Wage Act.

- REASONS FOR FURTHER APPELLATE REVIEW

va submits that the Trial Judge’s conclusion -
regardipg'the illegality of MVC’s draw on commission
compensation plan under fbe Wége Act, and the jury
instruction based on fhét conclusion, were erroneous.

Under the terms and conditions of MVC’s draw on

% : commission plan, Smith earned a commission when a job

was paid in full and closed out in the company’s

accounting system, and it was then due and payable as

a weekly draw of $1,400. The Trial Judge should have
instructed the Jury as to what the phrase “due and

payablé” in the Wage Act means,“‘and let the Jurors

make their own determination under the terms and
conditions of the Commission Plan as to when Smith’s
commissions became “due and payable”. Instead, the

Trial Judge Court substituted her own judgment as to

13 The Trial Judge mentioned the phrase but never
actually explained its meaning like she did with the
phrase “definitely determinable”. Add. 30.
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-when the commissions were due and payabla to Smith,

namely, six days after “the math, the numbers are
available to the defendants to determine definitely
the commission”.® In essence, the Trial Judge

mistakenly conflated commissions with ordinary weekiy

~wages (which are payable within 6 days) and ignored

the phrase “due and payable” in the Wage Act.

Moreover, the Trial Judge’s conclusion that a
commisSicn plan featuring a wéekly draw in lieu of a
lump sum payment is in vidlation of the Wage Act was
contrary to public policy. The Trial Juage reasoned
that such a commission plan harms the employee “who.
has got a family to support and knows he is éwed tens
of thousands of dollars, has to basically beg and have

an arguﬁent with his employer”. Add. 25. On the

- other hand, the weekly draw feature helps an employee

 because he receives substantial weekly compensation at

a time when he may not have earned a commission and

would not otherwise be paid anything beyond his

HrThe Trial Judge's instruction was especially
unjustifiable given that no appellate court in
Magsachusetts has ever ruled that a draw on commission
plan is barred by the Wage Act. This fact was, of
course, correctly brought to the attention of the
Trial Judge by Counsel for MVC., Add. Z25.
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salary. In other words, the,pﬁrpose of a draw on
commission»planlis for employees to receive reguiar,
guaranteed income in businesses with lengthy,of
seasonal.salés cycles.

If an employér and employee agree that earned
commissions are “due and payable” as,a weekly draw
because'it helps an employee earning.edmmissions in
the long rﬁn to have a check from the employer each
week, such an agreement should be encouraged as
striking a reasonable balance'between the needs of the
employer and the employee.'® This agreed upon balance : |
should not be struck down by a judge, who substitutes
his or her own judgment as to what is fair,_by
considering only the détximent to the employee and
disregarding the benefit to him or her under tﬁe
mutual arrangement.

There are undoubtedly other employers (e.g., auto
dealerships, office equipment leasing, commercial

printing, insurance agents, stockbrokers,

15 There aré downsides to an émployer as well under
such a compensation plan if an employee has several
bad commission periods and does not earn enough money
to cover the employee’s draws, and ends up owing the
employer money. Such an employee might also léave the
business at a time when he or she owes money to the
employer.
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loan/mortgage officers) who utilize a siﬁilér .
combensation-system to that of MVC (draw on commission
in lieu of lump sum payments), and the légality of
such'a compensation system is a matter of public
interest. Moreover, tﬁis is an issue which has not

- been decided by any appellate court ;n this
Commonwealth, and MVC and Smith respectfully submit
that it should be decided by this Court.,

Furthermore, detérmin;ng the legality of MVC's

draw on commission plan is not a theoretical exercise,

~because the Trial Judge’s erroneous instruction.
resulted in a taintéd verdict in favor of Smith with
regard to his‘Wage Act claims.‘

| After discussing MVC’s argument’ that the Trial
Judge gave tﬁe Jury an erroneous jury instruction

reéarding the. legality of Smith’s Commiséion Plaﬂ with
MVC under Wage Act, the Appeals Coqrt Panei declined -
to address the issue, because “MVC has nogﬁmade a |
plausible showing that“thehjury might have reached a

different result if the challenged instruction had not

been given.” _Memorandum and Order, p. 6. In
particular, the Panel stated that the case concerned a
dispute only about the amount of money that,Smith'was

owed for commissions/bonuses and “nothing in the
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record suggests that-the verd%bt was based on the
timing of commission payments;<as opposed to their
-nonpayment.” Id. :

Both of the foregoiné st%tements by the Panel are
mistaken. bFirst of all, the épecial.duryAQuestions
‘sﬁate-as,follows: “Did the Deéendants [MVC and Thomaé]
‘ violate the Massachusetts'Wag% Act: a. By failin@ to
timely pay commissions? [YES}Eb. By failing to timely
pay the 5% net profit bonus fér reeting the man day
~ quota? [YES].” R.A. II 289 (e;é;nphasisadd;ed). Thus,
the fact that the Jury'é.verdigt was baséd on the

timing of thevpéyments, as opp%sed to nonpayment, is
evident froﬁ the plaiﬁ,woxding%cf'the verdict. The
-Jﬁry then,awarded,monetary dam%ges that were
“aptribut{ed]” to certain cate%ories of commissions
and bonuses based on the féilu%e to make “timely”v
payments. R.A. II, 290.

Secondly, the Jufy found énlfavdr of MVC and
Thomas as to Sﬁith’s breach of%contract claims, both
as to commissions and the 5% N%t Profit Mén—Day
. Bonuses. R.A. II, 291.° Commoé sense dictates that if
the Jury verdict on the violatéons of the Wage Act was’
baSed on the nbnpayment of coméissions (orﬂthé

bonuses), the Jury would have ﬁound that the;
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nonpayment was also a violation of the MVC's
.Commission Plan and, therefore, a breach of contract.
The fact thatxthe Jury found in favor of MVC and
Thomas on Smith’s breach of contract claims
constitutes additional, objective evidence that the |
Jury believed that Smith was paid everything he was
vowed by MVC,'® and that. its finding that MVC and Thomés
violated the Wége Act was based solely on the timing ‘
. of fhé payments from MVC to Smith.

Acéordingly, it is appgrent that the Appeals
lcdurt'Panel mistakenly overlooked both the plain
wording of the yerdict and thg‘significance of the‘
finding in MVC’s and Thomas’ favor on Smith’s breach
of contract ¢claim in its decision.

The Panel was also mistaken that the only issue
- at trial was how much of fhe commissions and bonuses‘
owed &o Smith by MVC had been’paid, The Trial~Judge’s

erroneous instruction on the Wage Act alsé made the

16 Ag the Panel correctly noted: “MVC's expert
testified that Smith had earned only $647,747.21 in
commissions, that is, that MVC had overpald Smith.”
Memorandum and Order, p. 6. It is, therefore, entirely
plausible that the Jury agreed with MVC’ s expert, and
found-in favor of the Defendants as to.the breach of
contract claim, because Smith had been paid in full by
MVC.




timing of the payments an issue for the Jury to
consider in connection with the special questicns

regarding whether MVC violated the Wage Act. More

~.specifically, the Trial Judge instructed the Jury

that:'

The ‘Wage Act requires that once the employef
has all the information to determine the net
profit of the job, the employer is required
to pay the employee within six days the
commissions that he has earned. To the
extent that the commission plan, Exhibit 2,
permits the employer to. continue paying the

- 1,400-dollar draw after the plaintiff’s
commission is able to arithmetically
determinable, then the commission plan is
unenforceable, because it is in violation of
the Wage Act. Once, in this case, the A
commission can be definitely determinable,
the math, the numbers are available to the
defendants to determine definitely the
commission, they have to figure it out,
determine the commission, and within six
days pay it. That's what the Wage Act
requires. - o '

Trial Transcript, August 16, 2017, pp. 242-43
 {emphases added). To this erroneous instruction,
the Trial Court added the following:

If you find that the defendant failed to pay
Mr. Smith for either or both the commission
he was legally entitled to once it was .
definitely determinable and/or the five per
cent net profit for the man-day bonus,
either or both of those would constitute a
Wage Act violation. And then you would go
on to decide the issue of damages.
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Trial Transcript, August 16, 2017, pp. 245-46

{enphases added).

- The evidence in this case was that undér MVC’ s
Commission Plag,‘employees like Smith were paid their
commissions solely via the Qeekly draw, and amounts
that may have’been'bwed to him once the contract was
closed out of MVC's system were credited agaiﬁst his

Geekly dfaw. zRﬁA. I, 122; 130, 138, 160-64. By using
_ .the'phrasé “legaily.entitled'to‘once it was definitely:
| determinéble,” and having just instructed the Jury -
that Smiﬁh waé legally entitled undér thé Wagé Act tQ
be paid his enti:evcommissioﬁ six days after thé
coﬁmissions were capablevof‘beipg determined
mathematically, the Trial Jﬁdge essentially gua#anteed
that the $ury would conclude that MVC’'s payments to
Smith violated the Wage Act based on the tiﬁing of
MVC’s payments teo Smith {(i.e., p;ying the ‘commissions
and the bonuses as a 51,400 weekly draw credited
against the total amount owed, as opposed to paying
the entire commission and bonus within six days). The.
- Trial Judge, of qoﬁrée, then instructed the Jury‘to.
V“decide the iééué'of damagesf if they found any
vidlation of the Wage Act regérdless of the type of

violation (i.e., missing or late payments).
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‘The Appeals Court Panel also pointed out in its
decision that “[nlothing in the‘record suggests that
there was aﬁy.evidence, or-that ‘the jury received any
instruction, about how to calculate damages based on 

how long payments were .withheld after they became

definitely determinable.” Memorandum and Order, p. 6.
The Jury did not receive such'an instructioﬁ because
the Trial Judgé introduced the issue of the ﬁiming of
' the‘payments in a draconian fashion during her jury
‘instructions, after promising MVC’'s Counsel that this
wouid not be done. Infra, at 16. A§ a result, it is
unfair to expect MVC’'s Counsei to'haﬁe requested, at
the eleventh hour, an instruction regarding how to
calculate damagés based on how long payments were
'withheld after they became definiteLy determinable.
The fact that no one can seem to determine
the source of the amount that the Jury awarded
Smith should not make a difference. Instead,-the
focus should be on the plain language of the
Jury’s Verdict and fhe finding in favor of MVC and
.Thdma§ on Smith;s breach of confract claim, both
of which strongiy suggest tﬁat at leést some
amount of money was improperly awarded to Smith

based on an erroneous jury instruction.
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Finally, the Appeals Court .upheld the Trial
Court’s ruling that the Novembér; 2011 Agreement
was unenforceablé since it constituted an illegal
“special contract” under the Wage Act .7 MVC is-
not argﬁing that the Agreement. should have béén.
‘enforced as a release of Smith's Wage Act claims,
 as‘the Appeals Cou;t appéars:to have reasoned.
instead,‘the‘Agreement should.have.been admitted
at trial to allow the Jury to consider (along with
. the other evidence in the case régarding Sﬁith's
compénsétion5 that Smitﬁ was only awed $116,000.00
based on the jobs booked prior to Sept. 1, 2001.1

This is a case where there was a bona fide dispute

- 17 The Panel reasoned as follows: “To the extent

MVC withheld commissions beyond the date when “the

amount of such commissions, less allowable or
authorized deductions, hald] been definitely -
determined and ha[d] become due and payable” to
Smith, id., it violated the Wage Act. That is,
MVC would be liable whether the commissions it
owed were merely late, or were not paid at all.
As the settlement agreement purported to limit or
immunize MVC from Wage Act liability, it amounted
to an impermissible ‘special contract.’ Smith was
entitled to present his Wage Act claims to the
jury without MVC interposing the improper

settlement of the claims as a defense.” Memorandum .

and Order, p. B.A. L :

'8 MVC and Thomas are not conceding that the Agreement

was a “special contract” within the meaning of the

Wage Act, but will leave this discussion for another
time in the event their FAR Application is allowed.
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- between MVC and Smith as.to the amount of

Coﬁpensation he was owed.!” To the extent that
Smith agreed upon-the amount owed, MVC should have
been allowedlto contradict, with the figuﬁes
contained in the Agreement, his expert’s claim
that he was actually owed $380,653.13.

Instead of introducing tﬁe’Agreement to
contradict Smith’s evidence; MVC was compelled to

shoot holes in the various factual assumptions that

Smith’s expert made to arrive at the $380,653.13

figure. Infra, at 14. This was considerably more
difficult than simply introducing into evidence the

amount that Smith agreed he was owed in . the Agreement.

" MVC submits that there is nothing in the Wage Act

which makes a compromise in the case of a bona fide
dispute between employer and employée inadmissible for

all purposes, as the Trial Court and the Appeals Court

erronecusly ruled ih this case.

1% As the Jury's verdict in favor of MVC and Thomas on

Smith’s breach of contract claims strongly suggest,
MVC owad him nothing as it maintained all along.
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CONCLUSTION

For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants-

Appellees, Merrimack Valley Corp. and Lednard J.

Thomas, Jr., request this Court to grant them leave to

obtain further appellate review of their cross-appeal -

- in this action pursuant to Mass.R.App.P. 27.1.

THE APPELLEES

By their Attorney,

/s/ Isaac H. Peres
Isaac H. Peres, BBO #545149
Peres, Zoppo & Associates, PLLC
6 Cabot Place, Unit 10
Stoughton, MA (2072
(617) 821-9824
ipereslpereszoppo., Com

DATED: June 14, 2019

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE

Pursuant to Mass.R.App.P.‘l6(k), I hereby certify
that this Motion complies with all applicable rules of
court pertaining to the filing of Briefs and Requests
for Further Appellate Review, including the brief
statement, which consists of not more than either 10
pages of text in monospaced font (Courier New)
indicating why further appellate review .is
appropriate.

/s/ Isaac H. Peres
Isaac H. Peres
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CERTIFICATE -OF SERVICE

T hereby'certify that on June 14, 2019, this
; Application was served, by e-mail and first class
§ mail, on Appellant’s Counsel. '

/8/ Isaac H. Peres
Isaac H. Peres
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NOTICE: Summary decisions issued by the Appeals Court pursuant to its rule 1:28, as amended

by 73 Mass. Rpp. Ct. 1001 (200%), are primerily directed to the parties and, therefcre, may
not fully address the facts of the cise or the panel's decisional rationals.

such decisions are not clrculated to the entire court and, therefors, reépresent only the
vigws of the panel that decided the case. A summary decision pursuant to-rule 1:28 issued

after February 25, 2008, may be cited for its persuasive value but, because of the
limitations noted above, not as binding precedent. 3See Chace v. Curran, 71 Mass. App. Ct.
258, 260 n.4 (2008). : ‘ ' . . .

Moreover,

COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
APPEALS COURT
18-P-942
STEVEN P. SMITH
_ .

MERRIMACK VALLEY CORP. & another.!

MEMORANDUM AND ORDER'PURSUANT TO RULE 1:28

These appeals arise from an action-brought-by ths
plaintiff,'sﬁeven P. Smith, for sales commissions and bonuses
owed to him by his foxﬁér employer, defendant Merrimack Vélley
Corp., and‘iis principal, defendant ieonard J. Thomaé, Jr. .
‘(collectively, MVC). A Superior Court jury awa;ded aamages to
'Smith for MVC's violatiéns of the Wage Act; G. L. c. 149, § 148,2
and the trial judge awarded attorney's fees and costs, including
a sanction for MVC's failure to timely produce critical
documents in discovery. |

.MVC appeals from the §rincipal judgment, xaising various
trial-related issﬁeé, and froﬁ the separate ju@gment aWarding

attorney‘é fees and costs. In his cross &ppeal, Smith

L Leonard J. Thomas, Jr. ~
2 The jury found for MVC on Smith's breach of contract claim.




‘challenges how the discovery sanction was fashioned and the
award of costs. We affirm.

Discussion. 1. MVC's claims of trial error. "We review a

judge's evidentiary rulings on a motion in limine for abuse of

discretion." Commonwealth v. Rosa, 468 Mass. 231, 237 (2014).

In the absence of an abuse of discretion or other legal error,

we will not disturb a judge's decision on whether to admit

evidence. 2ucco v. Kane, 439 Mass. 503, 507 (2003). We review
jury instructions for error ‘and, if erroneous, whether the error

affected the substantial rights of the objecting party. See

_Bevérly v; Bass River Golf Mgt., Inc., 92 Mass. App. Ct. 535,»
603 (2018). A"An‘error in jury instructions is nog grqunds for
setting aside a verdict unless the error wés prejudicial —~vthat
is, unless the result might have differed ébsent the error;"
Id., guoting Blackstone v. Cashman, 448 Mass. 255; 270 (2007).

a. . bBExclusion of the settlement agreement. MVC asserts

that the trial judge erred by excluding the partiés' settlement
agreement from evidence. Thé'settlement agreement was the
subject of a summary judgmeﬁt motion and two moﬁions in limine.
On appeal, MVC focuses on the trial judge's detgrminatioﬁ that
tﬁe Settlement agreement Qas inadmissible because it aﬁounted'to

an invalid "special contract" exempting MVC from compliance with

the WagQ'Act;*
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The Wage Act provides that "[nlo person shall by a speeial
ccntract with'an»employee or by any other means exempt himself
.froﬁ" the Act. G. L. c. 149, § 148. MVC argmes’that because. -

- the set;lement agreement addressed only the amount of the
commissions owed to Smiﬁh,.rather thaﬁ the timing of payments
(thus never depriving Smith of a weekly wage), the agreement

does not.constitute a "spécial contract.” -We disagree. To the
extent MQC withheld commissions beyond the date when "£he amount
-of sﬁch comm@ssions( less allowable oanuthorized deductions,
ha[d} been définitely déterminad and ha{d] become due and
payable” to Smith, id., it violated the Wage Act; That ié, MVC
wguld be liable whetherAthe commissions 1t owed weré merely

late, or were not'paid'af all. As the settlement ag;eement
purported to limit or immﬁnize Mvc.from Wage Act liability, it
amounted to an impermissible 5special contract.” Smitﬁ was
entitled to present his Wage Act claims to the,jﬁry without MVC
interposing the imprépex settlement of the élaims as a defeﬁse. o

Nevertheless, not all “"speciel contracts” of this nature

are categorically unenforceable. MVC further contends that the
seﬁtlement agreemént,was enforceable as a general release, and

that general releases are favored as a matter of public policy.

See Crocker v. Townsend 0il Co., 464 Mass., 1, 14 (2010).
However, a general.release agreement is "enforceable as to the

statutorily provided rights and remedies conferred by the Wage
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Act only if such an agreement is stated in cleaf and .
unmistakable terms" and “"specifically réfer{s]‘to'the rights and

claims under the Wage Act that the employee is waiving." Id.

«_The settlement agreement here contains no such express language.

As the settlement agreement does not constitute a valid waiver

of Smith's Wage Act claims and is therefore uﬁenforceable, we

-discern no error of law or abuse of discretion in the judge's

decision to exclude it from evidence.

b. Instruction on MVC's commission plan. The Wage Act -

applies, "so far as apt," to the payment of commissions once

they become "definitely determined” and "due and payable.™

G. L. ¢. 149, § 148. 1In explaining the meaning of "definitely

determined” to the jury, the judge instructed that MVC's
compensation plan violated the Wage Act if MVC .did not pay Smith

the balance it owed him within six days of when the commission

became "arithmetically determinable."? Without citation to any

3 The'judge instructed as follows:

"So, what does definitely determined mean? In this
case, 1t means arithmetically determinableé when the job is
closed and the company has all the profit it needs to
determine the net profit of the-job.

"The Wage Act :equiies that once the employer has all
this information to determine the net profit of the job,
the employer is required to determine the commission and

pay the employee within six days the commission that hg has
earned. ' -




authority, MVC argues that a commission plan‘providing paymenﬁ

through a weekly draw in lieu of a lump sum.doeé not violate theﬁ

- Wage Act because the commissions become "due and payable" only

at the time of the weekly draw (and is even desirable as a
matter of public pblicy). ‘Indeed, the challenged jury
instruction removed this defense from the jury's consideration; 
We need'not,éetermine whether paymént of commissions by a weekly
draw is pgrmissible under £he Wage Actr howevé;, because even

assuming that the instruction was erroneous, MVC has not shown

~ that it was prejudicial.

MVC asserts that because the jury found for the plaintiff

under the Wage Act, but not under the contract, it is "entirely

possiblé that the [jlury found that only the manner and timing

of the payments (weekly draw vs. lump sum) were unlawful." But .

nothing in the record suggests that the jury based. their damages
award on the fact that MVC ﬁade late payments. From what we cag
diécern from'thé record the parties havé provided us, the only
issue aﬁ trial was how much of‘thercommissiaps owed to Smith had
been paid. Both sides agreed that Smith had been paid a total

of $712,649,60 in gqmmissions over the couisa of his employment

"To the extent that the commission plan . . . permits
the employer to continue only paying the 1,400-dollar draw
after the plaintiff's commission is able to be
arithmetically determinable, then the commission plan is
unenforceable, because it is in viclation of the Wage Act.”
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with.MVC.4 Smith's expert testified that Smith was owéd a .
minimﬁm'of $380,653,13 more. -MVC's expert testified that Smith
had earned only $647,747,21 in ¢ommissions; that is, that MVC
had'overpaid Smith. Neither side explained in its brief, nor
were they able to explain when questioned'at oral argument,-how
the juryvafr;ved at their damages award. Nothing in the record
suggests' that there was any evidence, or that the jury received
any instruction, about how to calculate damages based on how
long payments were withheld éfter they became definitely
deterﬁinable.5 ‘That is, nothing in the record suggests that ﬁhe'
'<<verdict_was based on the timing of commission payments; as
opposed t§ ﬁheir’nonpayment. As the parties'have failed to
provide a complete record of the evidence or the judge’s
instructiqns, we are in no position to ieview, much less

diStUrb, the judgment. See Buddy's Inc. v. Saugus,- 62  Mass,

App. Ct. 256, 264 {2004)‘ In short, MVC has not made a
plausible showing that the jury might have reached a differeni

result if the challenged instruction had not been given. See

4 Smith's expert testified that Smith had been paid $680,649.60,
but assumed in MVC's favor that Smith had received a side
payment of $32,000. : S

> The sparse record before us indicates some recognition that if
Smith's commissions were merely delayed, rather than unpaid, his
Wage Act damages would be limited to interest lost from the
delay. In this regard, Smith’'s counsel stated, "[W]e haven't
sought the interest because they --," but never completed this
thought after the interruption.




Campbe;l v. Cape & Islands Healthcare Servs., Inc., 81 Mass.

“App. th 252, 258-259 (2102); Global Investors Agent Corp. v;

National Fire Ins. Co. of Hartford, 76 Mass. App‘.Ct; 812, 825
(2010) .

- C. Statute of limitations. MVC challenges the special
guestion that asked the jury to determine the amount of unpaid
"man-days sold" bonuses that were "definitely determined and due

and payable to Smith on or before January 15, 2012." MVC

 contends.that by asking the jury to determine damages without a

specific start date, the judge allowed the jury to qonsider

unpaid bonuses that may have been due prior to April 15, 2010,

the agreed-upon cutoff date under the Wage Act's threefyear
statute of limitations.

Our review of this claim is again hémpered by the deficient
record before us. _Specifically, MVC provided only a partial
transcript of the conference during which the parties énd the
judge discussed the ianguage of the spécial guestions.® -Smith
attached to his #eply~brief some additional pages of the
traﬁscript, which appear to show that the April 15, 2010, cutoff
date was included in an earlier version of the proposed special‘
qguestions, and that counsel for MVC expressly agreed to its

removal. MVC thereforé waived its right to claim error on

¢ We are unable to discern if this omission was inadvertent or

intentional; it was nonetheless misleading to the court.
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appeal. See Boston Edison Co. v. Massachdsetts Water Resources

‘Buth., 459 Mass. 724, 740 (2011), citing Mass. R. Civ. P.
51 (b), 365 Mass. 816 (1974).

Even‘if MVC had preserved its rights, the limited record
ayailabie to us does not demoﬁstraté'thaﬁ the oﬁission of the
statute of limitations cutoff date was prejudicial. To the
contrary, Smith's expert testified he was “fully paid” as of
September 14, 2010, ahd MVC's expert testified that Smith‘was
credited with $32,QOO in‘0ctober 2010, which accounted for ”all
commissionsrthrough,2010." Based on the record available to us;
thé evidence suggests that the démages award could‘nét have been
baged on Commissiomslor bonuses outside of the statute of
limitations peri;d‘

In summéry,‘MVC has not demonétrated any error of.law or
abuse of_diédretion warranting relief from the jury's ve#dict.

2. MVC's appeal of attornéy’s fees. A party who prgvails

in a Wagé Act claim is entitled to reasonable attorney's fees

and the costs of litigation. Dixon v. Malden, 464 Mass. 446,

453 (2013), citing G. L. ¢. 149, § 150. Absent legal error, we

review an award of attorney's fees and costs for abuse of

discretion. See Beninati v. Borghi, 90 Mass. App. Ct. 556? 568
(2016). A trial judge has considerable discretion in awarding
attorney's fees under applicable statutes, and. when made, the

"award is presumed to be right and will not be disturbed without




a showiﬁg that the fee is excessive." Keville v. McKeever, 42

Mass. App. Ct. 140, 155-156 (1997). The trial judge "is in the
best position‘tc determine how much time was reasonably spent ¢n
a case, and the fair value of the attorney's sServices."

Fontaine v. Ebtec Corp., 415 Mass. 309, 324 (1993),

MVC asserts that‘tbe award of $499,936.20 in attornéY's
fees is_excessi%e because it is disproportipnate to thé
$52,183.41 (before trebling and interest) awarded by the jury in
compensafory damages, reflects an unieééonable amount of time
.andvlabor, and is inappropriate for a case that MVC claimsvﬁas
not bomplex. '

The judge issued a detailed decision, reflecting a thorough
review of the billing records and other submissions before her.
The judge found the hourly rates reasonable, Qeduéedvthe total
fees by twenty percent, and applied other reductions where
appropriate.b With respect to MVC's concern with
proportionality; the judge noted that "some disproportion
beiwéen thé verdict and the fee‘award is wérranted given the
work required, and reasonably negessary'in'light of the
extensive and prolonged'discove%y, motions practice, and length

of the jury trial." See A.C. Vaccaro, Inc. v. Vaccaro, 80 Mass.

App. Ct. 635, 643-644 (2011) (attorney's fee award not
"excessive by reason of its disproportionality” to total amount

of damages where proceedings "encompassed extensive discovery




and motion practice, and a five-day jury trial"). We discern no

abuse of discretion.

3. Smith's appeal of discovery sanction and award of
costs. The trial judge possesses wide discretion in sanctioning

a party for discovery violations.. See Short v. Marinas USA Ltd.

Partnership, 78 Mass. App. Ct. 848, B52-853 (2011). Here, thé
judge imposed é'sanction against MVC for producing thousands of
documents. on the eve of trial, well after'thé:close of
discovefy, which were responsive to Smith's document requests
and obviously critical to Smith's case. ,fhe judge determined
that MVC's failure was "egregious and deserviﬁg ofAsanétions."7
Rather than excluding the late~discovexedvdocumeﬁts or imposing
a specific amount to be paid by MVC, the judge ordered MVC to
place $30,000 in escrow, pending resolution of any appeal, to
reimburse Smith for expert fees he incqrred as:a,resulﬁ of the
late production.

Smith‘takes exception, arguing that the judge ;ater

recharacterized the reimbﬁrsement as part of the statutorily

7 In responding to Smith's claim, MVC argues in passing that its
late discovery of 5,500 pages of crucial documeéntary evidence
was "not the product of willful neglect," but mere
"happenstance." The judge specifically rejected MVC's.
characterization, finding that "[defendant] Thomas totally
failed to make any, let alone sufficient, efforts before
‘claiming [dlefendants had no such documents,” and that his
conduct was "intentional” as well as "egregious." MVC has not
shown that this finding was clearly erroneous or that the.
sanction was an abuse of discretion.
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mandated costs awarded to Smith under the Wage Act.

However, as

the judge's order makes ciear, the sanction was always intended

to be a reimbursement of costs incurred, as determined at a

later date, - Moreover, by ordering the sanction to be held in
gscrow, the judge reserved a meaningful opportunity for MVC to
appeal the order. While we agree that fashioning the sanction

in this manner may have diminished its impact, "it is not our

province to substitute our Jjudgment for that of the judge.”

Short, 78 Mass. App. Ct. at 833,

Smifh also challenges the costs awardéd for thé.services of
his écéountiﬁg/e§perts. With respect to Frank RUdewicZ, Smitﬁf
argues that the judge abused her discretion by awarding costs
for only the hours Rudewicz spent‘preparing for and testifying

at trial, but not for the time he spént working on the case

. prior to trial. We discern no abuse of discretion. The $7,100

awarded to compensate for Rudewicz's time was in addition to the
$30,000 sanction, which the judge found reasonable to covervthe
costs associated with "the preparation of the calculations and

expert report as to [Smith's) damages.” Smith makes no reasoned

- argument, nor does he cite any documents in the record, to show

that 330,000'was insufficient to cover his pretrial expert

costs. Without any basis in the record to support Smith's

claim, we will not substitute our judgment for that of the trial

judge. See Fitzgibbons's Case, 374 Mass. 633, 640 (1978).
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- Smith further argues that the judde abused her discretion
by reduciﬁg Rﬁdewiéi‘s'hburly rate -- ﬁhich he billed variousl?
at $400, $410, $450, and $510,~; to $250 for trial preparation
énd $300 for time spéﬁt in court. 4Agaiaﬁ the recorﬁ contains no .
: documéntatiqn to suppert Smitth claim that Rudewicz's services .
were worth their stickér price, leaving us-unable tO'cbnclude
that the:hourly rates the judge did allow were out of line with
that of other'forensic accountants with -similar experiénce. |

Finaily, Smith challenges the judge's decisionAté deny
costs altoéether as;to‘Brian‘Peterson.' The judge declined to
award fees for Peterson's time.because Smith "has not prbvided
the court with'informationﬂregardinq M?. Peterson's credentials
and, thus, this court cannot find any basis to award fees for
‘his timé;" As we are in the same position as the judge, we have
no basis in evidence to determine that she abused her

~discretion.

Judguents affirmed,

By the Court (Massing,
Ditkoff & Wendlandt, JJ.%),

; B il el
| Qawﬁv = o lewlen
e :

Clerk'

Entered: May 24, 2019.

% The panelists are listed in order of seniority.
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